ABANDONED TOWNS, VILLAGES AND POST OFFICES
OF IOWA

By Davip C. Morr

(Continued from the July Number)

SAC COUNTY

Cepar Forks. Listed as a post office in Sac County from 1857 to
1858. Its location not found, but supposed to have been in Cedar
Township.

Coox Vairev. A place in section 18, Coon Valley Township. Post
office, 1879-80.

Eix Rux. A post office (1877-79) in the southwestern part of Cook
Township.

Frercuer, The name first given to the present town of Lake View
when it was platted in 1881. Fletcher was the name of the post office
from 1880 to 1887.

Leora. A village platted in 1900 in section 10, Viola Township.
Post office, 1890 to 1900, except one brief intermission.

Mereer. A C. & N. W. Railway station in the central part of
Viola Township, about one mile west of the present village of Carnarvon,
Post office, 1876-78.

Mou~r Hove. A post office from 1875 to 1882 in the central part of
Eureka Township.

Niw Arsaxy. Platted as a town in 1857 in the northeast quarter
of section 1, Wall Lake Township, about three miles south and one
mile east of Sac City, but never developed.

New Muxtci. Laid out as a town in the southwestern part of sec-
tion 19, Cedar Township, about one mile east of the present city of
Sac City, and shown on maps of the 1850’s at least two years earlier
than any other place in the county. However, it was never built up.
Sac City was laid out in 1855.

Onver. A post office in the northwestern part of Levey Township
from 1875 to 1878.

Perris. A post office from 1898 to 1902 in section 5, Coon Valley
Township. .

Puito. A post office from 1875 to 1877 in.the central part of Clin-
ton Township.

Scuouanrie. A post office from 1871 to 1874 in the southwestern part
of Douglas Township on the Raccoon River.

Sovrmronr. Laid out as a town in the eastern part of Wall Lake
Township in a very early day, but never built up.

WiresLer’s Raxcu. A post office from 1875 to 1878 in section 14,
‘Wheeler Township.
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SCOTT COUNTY

A1LEN’S GrovE. A post office from 1850 to 1851 and from 1854 to
1902 in section 27, Allen’s Grove Township.

Amiry. The name of the post office at the present village of Mays-
ville, from 1851 to 1902,

Arco. A post office (1897-1902) in the southeast corner of section
8, Le Claire Township.

BarLurr, A post office (1884-90) at a point which is now within the
northern limits of the city of Davenport.

Barrwoon. The name of a post office (1881-83) at the same loca-
tion as was the Walnut Grove post office, which see below.

Berurny., The name of the post office at the town of Parkhurst, which
see below, from 1839 to 18445.

Cappa. The name of the post office (1888-1895) at Carlson, which see
below. )

Carison. The name of a former railway station and hamlet one and
one-half miles west of the present station of Noels in Winfield Town-
ship.

CrurcnviLLe. A post office in the early 1860's in the eastern part of
Hickory Grove Township.

Crarx’s Ferry., A post office (1838-89) at or near the present town
of Buffalo.

East Davexreorr. Laid out as a town in 1852 about one mile east of
Brady Street, Davenport, and now included within the present city of
Davenport.

Evmzaserst Crry. The pioneer name of the present town of Prince-
ton. It appears on maps from 1845 to 1860 as Elizabeth City.

Faraine Grove. Listed as a post office in Scott County in 1843, but
its location not found.

Gaxsrin, The name of the post office (1884-1919) at Martin’s Sta-
tion, Butler L'ownship.

Girserr. The name of the village from the 1850’s to the 1899’s which
occupied the site of the present city of Bettendorf.

GoertTOWN. A name commonly applied to the village of Gilbert,
which see above.

Grenpare. The name of a post office from 1839 to 1841 at or near
the present town of Buffalo.

GreeN Tree. See Green Tree Tavern below.

Greew Tree Tavern., A post office (1878-83) in the northern part of
the west section 4, Davenport Township, five miles north and one mile
west of the city of Davenport. It continued as Green Tree from
1883 to 1903.

Hicxorny Grove. A post office (1839-45) in the central part of
Hickory Grove Township.

Husax. A post office in Blue Grass Township, from 1882 to 1883.

JamestowN. A hamlet in the southeastern part of section 3, Buffalo
Township. Post office, 1889-1904.
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Krrn, Listed as a post office in Scott County from 1881 to 1882,
but its location not found.

Le Crame Cexrter. A post office from 1855 to 1856 in Le Claire
Township.

Linnx Grove. A post office (1853-59) in the central part of Sheridan
Township.

Lixwoon. A hamlet in section 24, Buffalo Township. Post office,
1880-89.

Mmorerowy.  Laid out as a town in 1851 between Parkhurst and Le
Claire, and later included within the town of Le Claire.

New Burraro. Surveyors making the original survey in 1837 re-
corded in their noles that they found this town, and the description
shows it on the same location as the present town of Buffalo.

Nrw Hamrunre. A post oftice 1869 to 1872 in the northern part of
Hickory Grove Township.

Parxuursr. Surveyors making the original survey in 1837 record
finding this town in section 85, Le Claire Township, and said it was pros-
pering. It is now included in the northern portion of the town of
Le Claire.

PixxacLe Porvr. The name by which the present town of Prince-
ton was first known. :

Prarxview. A hamlet at the common corners of sections 1 and 12,
Cleona Township, and 6 and 7, Hickory Grove Township. Post office,
1873-1902.

Porxr Preasanrt. A village laid out in 1839 in sections 4 and 5, Win-
ficld Township, on’the south bank of the Wapsipinicon River. Its life
was brief. Post oflice, 1840-44.

Price. A post office in 1864 in the southern part of Sheridan Town-
ship. ’

Rocxivoiray. A town laid out in 1836 in section 8, Rockingham
Township, about four miles below the business section of Davenport.
The first government surveyors of 1837 note its existence. It was a
rival of Davenport for several years and contested for the county seat.
Post office, 1844-47,

Rousp Grove. A post office (1855-1904) on the north line of section
3, Clcona Township.

SeixxevvicLe. A hamlet later known as Linwood, which see above.
The post office was Spinneyville from 1872 to 1880.

Varrey Crre.  The name first given (1833) to the present village and
railway station of Pleasant Valley.

Warxur Grove. A post office (1844-72) in the northern part of sec-
tion 19, Butler Township.

West Burraro. The rame of the post office from 1841 to 1857 in a
portion of the town of Buffalo. .

Wurre Sureier, A hamlet and former railway station in the south-
ern part of section 13, Buffalo Township. Post office, 1889-1905,
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SHELBY COUNTY ¢

ArtamouNT. A post office (1868-74) in the eastern part of Fairview,
Township, about six miles southeast of Harlan.

Boraxy. A post office (1859-71) in the northwestern part of Jackson
Township, about six miles east and a little south of Harlan.

Derraxce. The post office of Defiance was in existence from 1875
until the establishment of the town of Defiance, which was in 1882, and
was in the south part of section 14, Union Township, about one mile
west of where the town now stands. :

Erxmory., The post office of Elkhorn was established in 1867 and
was located in the northern part of section 15, Clay Township, about
three miles southwest of the present town of Elkhorn. It was later
removed to the village.

ITex. An embryo town staked out some time in the early 1850’s in
section 4, Center Township, about three miles northeast of Harlan, on
the West Nishnabotna River. It attained to one store, was a com-
petitor for the county seat, but when that was settled in Harlan's favor
in 1859, Iten vanished.

Marrory. A village established in the 1870°s in section 6, Greeley
Township. After the coming of the Milwaukee Railway in 1882 it had
a post office and a railway station for a few years, when they were
both discontinued.

MaxTexo. A village platted in 1856 in the northeastern part of
section 18, Grove Township, on Mill Creek. Post office, 1856-58.

Mararnon. The name first given to the present town of Earling
when it was platted in 1882, and which it kept a few years.

Poxo. Listed as a post office in Shelby County from 1881 to 1883,
but the location not found.

Pramie Rose. A hamlet in section 8, Monroe Township. Post office,
1899-04.

RanrTour. A place in the northwestern part of Clay Township, as
shown on.maps from 1861 to 1869.

Roacnu. A Milwaukee railway station in the northern part of Cass
Township in the early 1880’s. It had a post office from 1880 to 1882.

Rocunare. The name first given the present railway station and
village of Botna when it was established in the early 1880's.

Rock Rux. A hamlet in the southwestern part of Cass Lownship,
as appears on maps of the 1870’s.

SamisoN. A post office and Milwaukee railway station from 1879 to
1882 in section 32, Cass T'ownship.

SHeLsyviLe. A town platted in 1854 in the eastern part of section
27, Grove Township. This was the first town platted in the county and
was the county seat from 1853 to 1859, when it lost to Harlan. Post
office, 1854 to 1862 and again from 1875 to 1881.

Somina. Mostly called Simoda. Platted in 1857 in the southeastern

6 Past and Present of Shelby County, Iowe, 1915, by Edward S. White, was
a helpful source of information in the preparation of this material.
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part of section 8 and the southwestern part of section 9, Center Town-
ship, about one and one-half miles east of Harlan, on the West Nish-
nabotna River. It was a rival of Harlan for the county seat, but when
it failed in that in 1859 it quickly passed away. Post office, June 19,
1858 to July 16, 1858.

Tisorrsvitte, A village of rather brief existence about one-half
mile southwest of the business section of the present town of Irwin on
the Botna River. It had a post office from 1880 to 1882,

SIOUX COUNTY

Arnor. A post office (1875-86) in section 12, Lincoln Township.

Berv’s Laxe. The pioneer name of the present village of Middleburg.

Carrrore. A town laid out in 1860 on the Big Sioux River and less
than one mile north of the business section of the present town of
Hawarden. A portion of it is now included within the corporate
limits of Hawarden and is still often referred to as Calliope. Calliope
was the county seat from 1860 until 1872 when it was changed to Orange
City. Post office, 1862 to 1863, and again from 1869 to 1911.

Corn VarLiey, A post office in the early 1880°s in the northeastern
péu:t of Washington Township from 1877 to 1883.

Darrivgron. The name of the post office for a few months in 1875
at what was later the railroad station of Elm Springs, which see below.

East Oraxce. The name for a few years of its early existence of the
present town of Alton. East Orange was the name of the post office
from 1874 to 1882.

Evry SeriNcs. A station on the Milwaukee railway for several years
on sections 14 and 15, Settlers Township.

FarMer. A post office (1871-85) in the southwestern part of. section
1, Settlers Township.

Hrorraxp Park. A place in section 12, Eagle Township as appears
on maps of 1900.

Irexe. A post office (1870-80) in the southern part of section 35,
Sioux Township.

Maurice. The name first given the present village and railroad
station of Matlock in Grant Township when it was established in 1888,
but the name was soon changed because of a larger town of the same
name in Sioux County. )

May BeiL. A post office (1877-86) in the southwestern part of
Lincoln Township.

Nexiut. A place in the southwestern part of Garfield Township on
the Big Sioux River, as shown on maps from 1861 to 1878,

Osuxosu. A post office (1872-83) in the southeastern part of section
2, Reading Township.

Parrersoxnviire. The name first given to the present town of Hull,
It was soon changed to Winland, and later to Hull. Pattersonville was
the name of the post office from 1878 to 1886.

Ricker. The name of the post office from 1882 to 1884 at what is
now the town of Granville.
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Rocx Miuis. A post office from 1877 to 1879 at or near the location
of the present town of Rock Valley.

Rovar Rmee. A post office (1871-77) in section 24, Rock Township.

Suermax, The name of the present town of Boyden during a few
years after its establishment in the 1870%s.

WinLaNp, See Pattersonville above.

STORY COUNTY

Asuurst. The name for a brief time of the present town of Zearing
during its founding in the early 1880's.

Broomingroy. A town laid out in 1857 in the central part of section
25, Franklin Township, about two miles north and one east of the
business section of the present city of Ames. The first term of the
District Court was held there. Its post office (1858-67) was called
Camden.

Boarpman., A railway station on the Northwestern, and a post office
from 1878 to 1883 in the southern part of Lafayctte Township, about
two miles north of Gilbert.

CampeN. See Bloomington above. .

CoupyviLLE. A post office from 1871 to 1875 in the southeastern part
of Palestine Township, a short distance south of the present town of
Huxley.

Correce Farm. A post office (1862-66) at the location where the
state Agricudtural College was established a little later.

CorreceToN. Laid out as a town in 1863 in the northwest quarter of
the northeast quarter of section 9, Washington Township, now included
in that part of the present city of Ames south of the State College
grounds. It was expected the railway station would be located there
instead of where it now is, at Ames.

Coruins Cexter. A post office (1879-81) in the central part of
Collins Township.

Dayrox. Laid out as a town in 1854 in the northwest quarter of
section 9, Indian Creek Township, about one mile west of the town of
Towa Center, which see below. DBut little improvement was made there.

Derrance. A town laid out in 1856 in the northern part of section
36, Collins Township.

Famview. The original name of the present town of Story City.
Fairview was laid out in 1855, and the name changed to Story City in
1881.

GosHeN. A post office (1854-58) in the northeastern part of section
21, Indian Creek Township.

Towa CexTer. A town laid out in 1855 in the southeastern part of
section 9, and the southwestern part of section 10, Indian Creek Town-
ship, three miles north and one mile west of the present town of Max-
well. It was a prosperous town, the second largest in the county, until
after the coming of nearby railroads. Occupying the geographical
center of the state, it had aspirations for the state capital. A store
and a few dwellings remain. Post office, 1858-1913.
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Jouxson’s Grove. A post office from 1877 to 1880 in the eastern
part of Richland ‘T'ownship.

New Aipaxvy. A town laid out in 1855 in the west half of the
southeast quarter of section 18, New Albany Township, about two
miles southwest of the present town of Colo. It vanished after the
coming of the nearby railway.

New Puamaperenra. A town laid out in 1856 in the east half of the
northeast quarter of section 6, and three blocks in the northwest part of
section 5, Washington Township. Post office, 1859-69. It prospered as
a town until the coming of the Northwestern railway in 1864 when a
station was located about one-half mile to its north, and the town of
Ontario was built up there. It is now embraced in the southern part of
the village of Ontario. Post office, 1858-68.

Paresrixe. A town laid out in 1857 in section 14, Palestine Town-
ship.

Proria Crry. A portion of this important pioneer town was in the
south edge of section 85, Indian Creek Township. See Polk County list.

Poinr Pavestine. A post office (1861-69) at the town of Palestine,
which see above.

Pramie Crry. Laid out as a teown in 1854 in the central part of
section 31, Milford Township. It is said it never had but one house.

Suerriep, A hamlet in the southwestern part of Howard Town-
ship. Post office, 1857-60.

SaayviLLe. A pioneer hamlet in the northeastern part of section 31,
Sherman Township. Post office, April 14, 1886 to July 28, 1886.

S»rrurieLp. A town laid out in 1854 in the central part of section
18, Howard Township. It was built up but little.

Story. A post office (1877-78) at or near Sunset, which see below.

Sunnrr.  Listed as a post office in Story County from 1894 to 1901,
but its location not found.

Suxser. A place about two milés west of the town of Zearing. Post
office, 1878-81.

WitLow Grove. A post office (1871-79) in the southeastern part of
Lafayette Township. )

TAMA COUNTY

Bapeer Hrr. A village established in about 1870 in the southern
part of section 5, Spring Creek Township, about one mile northwest of
the present town of Gladbrook. Post office, 1867-80.

Bovixa. A post office (1868-73) in the northern part of Buckingham
Township.

Bru~Ner. A post office (1856-58) and hamlet a short distance south-
west of Monticello, which see below.

Buckixemax. A pioneer town pf some importance from about 1856
to 1874 in the southeastern part of section 83, Buckingham Township,
and the northeastern part of section 4, Perry Township, or two miles
northwest of the present town of Traer. After the abandonment of the
town a post office of the same name ran a few years in section 22,
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Buckingham Township, and later yet the present railroad station and
village of Buckingham was established in section 14.

BurLervirLe. A town in the northeast corner of section 17, Indian
Village Township, on the south side of the Iowa River, about two
miles northwest of the present town of Montour. Post office, 1856-1901.
It was previously called Indian Town.

CarrorL. A place in section 2, Carroll Township, as shown on maps
of 1881.

CorLpviLLe. A post office (1872-81) in the southwestern part of sec-
tion 10, Lincoln Township.

CorriNs Grove. A post office from 1857 to 1858 in the southeastern
part of Crystal Township.

Corumsia. The name of the hamlet as appears on the maps where
was located the post office of Ola, which see below.

CoxNerr. A post office (1872-75) in section 16, Grant Township.

Crystan. A town and post office (1857-1902) in section 14, Crystal
Township. )

Drypex. A post office (1868-81) shown on some maps in Oneida
Township near its southeast corner, and on later maps in York Town-
ship near its northeast corner. ]

Errie. Listed as a post office in Tama County from 1869 to 1873,
but the location not found.

Eurexa. A town in the southeastern part of section 21, Richland
Township. Post office, 1856-59.

Everereen. A post office (1869-1900) south of the central part of
Geneseo Township.

Famrmavex. A post office (1872-91) in the western part of Crystal
Township. .

Firreexy MiLe. See Fifteen Mile Grove below.

Firreex Mire Grove. A post office (1867-83) in the southern part
of section 6, Lincoln Township. It continued as Fifteen Mile post
office until 1900.

Frsuervicre, A hamlet in the southern part of Carroll Township as
shown on maps of 1869. : .

Forks. A post office (1861-66) in the central part of Geneseo Town-
ship.

Gexesro. A post office from 1888 to 1895 in Genesco Township.

Havexn. The name of the village and post office (1870-1903) previ-
ously known as Eureka, which see above.

Hearn. A post office (1859-61) in the southwestern part of Carlton
Township.

Herexa. A town in the southeast corner of section 9 and the south-
west corner of section 10, Richland Township. Post office, 185G-96.

Honran., A place in the central part of Howard Township, as shown
on maps of 1868 and 1869.

Horoxa, A post office in the southeast corner of section 4, Richland -
Township, on the south side of the Iowa River, as shown on maps of
1875.




ABANDONED TOWNS OF IOWA 125

Howarn. A post office during 1868 in" section 2, Howard Township.

Ixprax Towx. The earlier name of the village of Butlerville, which
see above. Indian Town was also the name of the post office from 1854
to 1856.

Inving. A village in the northeast corner of section 1, Salt Creek
Township. A portion of the village was on the east side of the Benton
County line. The original village is gone, although there is now a
railway station and a village grown up near by, and also a post office,
all bearing the name of Irving.

Tuxa. The name by which the present city of Tama was known from
its beginning in 1862 for a few years. Iuka was also the name of the
post office from 1863 to 1866.

JaxnesviLLe. A place in the eastern part of Otter Creek Township
about six miles east of Toledo, as shown on maps of 1856.

Kans. A post office from 1877 to 1880 in the southeastern part of
Carlton Township.

Kivisaw. A post office (1854-64) shown on the earlier maps in the
western part of Salt Creek Township on the north side of the Iowa
River about one mile southwest of the present town of Chelsea, but on
later maps on the south side of the river and about two miles southeast
of Chelsea.

Mmraxp. A post office (1888-1902) in section 6, Geneseo Township.

MoxTiceLLo. A village in the southeast corner of section 83, Howard
Township, three miles north and one mile west of Toledo, as shown on
maps from 1856 to 1885.

MooreviLLe. A village in the eastern part of section 24, Geneseco
Township. Post office, 1871-1900. .

Oaxwoon. A post office for a part of 1868 in the southern part of
Lincoln Township.

Ora. A post office (1854-63) in the northern part of Columbia
Township, and about two miles south of the present city of Tama. See
Columbia above.

Orrorv. The former name of the present town of Montour. Orford
was also the name of the post office from 1865 to 1871.

Orrer Crerx. Another name for the present town of Chelsea, as
appears by maps of 1863,

Porrer. A post office (1882-1906) in Indian Village Township.

Ranmoxa, Listed as a post office in Tama County from 1888 to 1890,
but the location not found.

Reparax. A village in the eastern part of section 25, York Township,
on the Benton County line. Post office, 1854-63.

Sarr Creex. A post office (1893-94) and hamlet in the east central
part of Salt Creek Township, near the Benton County line.

Serive Crezx. A post office (1857-60) in section 32, Spring Creek
Township. .

TaxaviLLe. A post office (1855-63) in the southeastern part of Otter
Creek Township, about seven miles east of the present city of Tama.
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Ux~itonvite. A place in the southwestern part of Spring Creek
Township, as appears on maps of 1862.

Vixevarp. A post office (1870-77) in the eastern part of section 29,
Carlton Township.

Warriad. A hamlet in the central part of section 3, York Town-
ship, three miles northwest of the present town of Elberon. Post office,
1863-94., .

‘West Irving. The name of the post office from 1858 to 1875 at the
village of Irving, which see above.

West Unton. A village in the central part of section 11, Perry
Township, about one mile east of the present town of Traer, as shown
on maps of 1875.

Worr Creex. A post office (1857-73) slightly northeast of the cen-
tral part of Perry Township, and a short distance southeast of the
present town of Traer.

TAYLOR COUNTY

Brusuy. A post office (1858-61) in the northeast quarter of section
24, Mason Township.

BucraNan., A town in the central part of section 8, Polk Township.
It was a thriving town in the 1860’s and 1870’.

Da~x. A post office (1870-78) in the southeastern part of section
10, Holt Township.

Exon. A post office (1894-1901) in the southeastern part of Jackson
Township.

Gravrry. A country post office by this name existed a mile or two
west of the present town of Gravity, except two short intermissions,
from 1855 until the coming of the railroad in 1882 and the establish-
ment of the town.

Grove. Listed as a post office in Taylor County from 1855 to 1856,
but the location not found.

Guss. A post office (1883-1907) in section 14, Nodaway Township.

Harmoxy. Listed from 1868 to 1871 as a post office in Taylor County,
but the location not found. .

Hexsuw. A post office (1899-1903) on the south line of section 17,
Nodaway Township.

Howr. A post office from 1860 to 1892 and again from 1898 to 1903
in the northwestern part of section 33, Holt Township.

Jexks. Another name in an early day for the present town of
Conway. Jenks was the name of the post office from 1867 to 1870.

Laxpis. A post office (1899-1902) in the southwest quarter of sec-
tion 11, Polk Township.

Leoxarn. A post office (1883-1903) in the southwest corner of sec-
tion 11, Holt Township.

Lexixerox. A village in the southwestern part of Marshall Town-
ship, about five miles northeast of the town of Bedford. It was an
aspirant for the county seat in the early 1860’s. Post office, 1857-64.

LrrcurieLn. A post office (1858-72) in section 20, Grant Township.
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Lo~E Orrice. A post office from 1857 to 1859. in Platte Township.

Mexyory. A post office (1857-82) in the southwest corner of section
31, Dallas Township.

Moraoxrowy, The name by which the present town of Blockton
was known in its early existence. Mormontown was begun in 1861 and
the post office went by that name from 1872 until 1887.

Ovip. A post office in the southeastern part of Ross Township from
1861 to 1864, and again from 1868 to 1871.

Prarre. A post office (1868-72) in Polk Township. (See Census
of Towa, 1870.)

Prarrevire. A village in the southern part of section 32, Gay
Township. Post office, 1856-1903.

Ruoans. Name of the post office at the railroad station of Sharps-
burg for a few months in 1883.

Sirarrrs. Name of the post office at the present railroad station of
Sharpsburg from 1883 to 1886.

Srasr. The name of the post office from 1860 to 1906, except one
intermission, at the town of Buchanan, which see above,

Wixpsor. An early name of the present town of Conway, as appears
on maps of 1870.

UNION COUNTYT

Araska. A post office in Jones Township from 1868 to 1869, located
near the present town of Thayer.

Bisarark.  Laid out as a town in 1876 in section 36, Pleasant Town-
ship, on Grand River, but never built up.

BopiNpure. Laid out as a town in 1875 in section 85, Dodge Town-
ship, five miles northeast of Afton, but not built up.

Hrowraxn, Laid out in 1855 in section 25, Highland Township, near
the center of the county. It grew rapidly, contested for the county
scat, but when Afton won it in 1857, it was soon deserted.

Hawxkeye Crry. Laid out in section 11, Douglas Township, as told
by Colby’s Atlas of 1876, but never built up.

Kixgs. Listed as a post office in Union County from 1855 to 1860,
but the location not found.

Ler. A post office (1881-85) in the northeastern part of Lincoln
Township. .

McDiui. A place in section 12, Dodge Township, as appears on
maps of 1881 to 1889.

MouxT Pisean. See Pisgah below.

Mrvers. Listed as a post office in Union County from 1858 to 1860,
but the location not found.

New Hore. A post office from 1856 to 1880 in the western part of
New Hope Township.

Orro. A post office (1856-64) slightly northeast of the center of
Pleasant Township.

7 The History of Union County, by George A. Ide, 1908, has been a helpful
source of information concerning this county.
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OLver. A post office (1871-74) near the center of Sand Creek Town-
ship, about two miles east of the present town of Arispe.

Parrior. A post office (1861-66) about one mile south of the center
of Jones Township.

PeTersvinie. A town settled by the Mormons in 1847 in the northern
part of section 83, Jones Township, north of Grand River. It was the
first county seat, 1853 to 1855, losing to Afton in the latter year. The
town was vacated about 1860. Post office, 1856 to 1858.

Pumo. A post office (1856-64) in the southwestern part of Richland
Township, about four miles southwest of Afton.

Pisoan. A populous village of huts settled by the Mormons in 1847
in section 8, Jones Township, about one mile northeast of the present
railroad village of Talmage. It existed only about four years. Some-
times called Mount Pisgah. Post office, 1851-54.

TiNeLey. A post office by this name was in existence near the
southwest corner of Pleasant Township from 1868 to 1881, until at the
latter date the present town of Tingley in the northern part of Ringgold
County was established.

Uxtox Crry. Laid out in 1855 near the northwest corner of section
21, Platte Township, about one mile southeast of the present town of
Kent. A stage road town of importance. Post office, 1858-72.

West Uxtox. Platted in 1854 in section 22, Jones Township, about
one mile southwest of the present town of Thayer. A busy town on the
stage line. Vacated in 1863. .

Zaria. A post office (1879-88) in the northern part of section 12,
New Hope Township, about one and one-half miles northeast of the
present town of Lorimor.

VAN BUREN COUNTY?

Arexaxpra. The early name of the present village of Douds.

Bracx Hawk Ciry. A village laid out in 1848 in the southwest
<orner of section 7, Village Township, south of the Des Moines River
and opposite Iowaville. It became extinct about 1861.

Bover Statrox. A former station on the C., B. & Q. Railroad about
two miles west of Farmington. There was also a post office of the
same name there from 1876 for a few years, when it was changed to
Boyer, and discontinued in 1884,

Business Corxurs. A village on the north side of section 24, Village
Township, established in 1846, Post office, 1849-64.

CoLumsus. A pioneer village in section 27, Washington Township,
on the northeast side of the Des Moines River, about two miles above
Bentonsport. 'The government surveyors in 1887 report in their notes
its existence.

Des Morxes Crry. A village founded in 1839 and now included in the
northeast portion of the present town of Keosauqua.

80ur chief source of information on Van Buren County's abandoned towns
has been “The Place-Names of Van Buren County,” by T. J. Fitzpatrick, which
is being published in the Annals at this time.
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Docroww. An early nickname for the present town of Mount Sterl-
ing.

GarvesporoucH. A post office (1854-64) in or near the northeastern
part of section 15, Harrisburg Township.

Harmissura. A hamlet of brief existence established about 1840 in
Harrisburg Township, and thought to have been near the center of
the township.

Harrissurc.  Another hamlet by this name in a very early day was
laid out on the opposite side of the Des Moines River from Farmington,
but its existehce was brief.

HebrorLaNTE. A hamlet in existence in 1840 in or near section 22,
Des Moines Township, about five miles southwest of Keosauqua.

Hickory. The name of the post office (1858-82) at the village of
Independent, which see below.

Hoxme. A post office (1849-82) on the east side of the southeast
quarter of section 20, Des Moines Township.

IxperexpENT. The pioneer name of the present village and railway
station of Selma. Independent was laid out in 1851.

Inprax Pramie. The name of the post office (1843-53) at what later
became the present village of Lebanon.

Iowa Crry. A place referred to on pages 427, 433, 434, Acts of the
Legislative Assembly of Iowa Territory, session of 1838-39, evidently
meaning what was soon after known as Towaville, which see below.

Towavrire.,, A village on the west side of section 7, Village Town-
ship, and the north side of the Des Moines River, about one mile
northwest of the present village of Selma. At one time in the 1860’s
it was prosperous, having some 200 inhabitants.

Luexizgroxy. A village established in 1838 in section 21, Washington
Township, on the north side of the Des Moines River, about four miles
above Bentonsport.

Lick Creck. The name of the post office at Philadelphia, which see
below, from 1849 to 1855.

Loxcview. A former railroad station and a post office in the 1880’s
in section 14, Union Township, about two miles west of Stockport.

McVeicu. A former railroad station and post office (1882-1901) near
the southwest corner of section 21, Cedar Township, about three miles
east of Stockport. Sec Zanesville below.

Mecu~NIcsBurG. A pioneer place and a post office in the early 1850s
in the southwestern part of Chequest Township.

Meex’s Mris. The original name of the place that later became
the present town of Bonaparte.

Narorron. A projected early village on the south side of the Des
Moines River opposite Bonaparte. Never built up.

New Lexiyerox. A town and post office from 1837 to 1842 one mile
west of the present town of Bonaparte.

New Marxer. The name by which Black Hawk City, which see
above, was known during a few of the later years of its existence.
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New Market was the name of the post office there from 1851 to 1865.

Nurs. A village in the southeastern part of the south section 5,
Des Moines Township. 'The village was laid out in 1855 and the post
office was from 1860 to 1874,

Norra Bexronsrorr. The name by which the present town of
Bentonsport was known from its founding in 1839 until 1852, while the
portion of the town south of the Des Moines River was called South
Bentonsport until 1852 when it was changed to Vernon. .

Oaxrano. A ‘town laid out in 1857 southeast of and adjacent to
Bentonsport. ’

Oax PoiNt. A post office (1849-80) in the northeastern part of the
north section 5, Jackson Township.

Parestixe. The government surveyors of 1837 describe in their
notes that they found this town in sections 16 and 17, Bonaparte
Township, which would be on the south side of the Des Moines River
opposite Bonaparte.

Pasexo. The name of the post office from 1854 to 1857 at or near
where stands the present village of Selma.

Parxersvitre. The government surveyors of 1837 set out in their
notes that they found this town in the northwestern part of section 17,
Union Township, which would be about one mile southeast of the
present village of Birmingham.

Pramaperemis, The pioneer name of the present village of Kilbourn
when it was laid out in 1839 and for several years. Philadelphia was
also the name of the post office from 1841 to 1849.

Preasaxt Hmx, A village across the river and south from Keo-
sauqua, in section 36, Van Buren Township. It was founded in 1850
and had a post office by the same name from 1853 to 1855. A few resi-
dences still remain, It is now a part of Keosauqua and is sometimes
called South Keosauqua.

Pryyourm. A village in the northern part of section 35, Farming-
ton Township, adjacent to the town of Farmington on the north.
Founded in 1842.

Porrraxp. The pioneer name of the present village of Leando from
its beginning in 1837 to 1880. ILeando was the name of the post office
from 1840 to 18G4. The government surveyors of 1837 report they
found this village of Portland.

Porroro. The name of the post office at Van Buren, which see
below, for a few vears in the early 1840’s.

Risizve Sux. The original name of the present village of Pittsburg
from the time of its beginning in 1837 until 1842, The post office was
Rising Sun from 1841 to 1844. The government surveyors report find-
ing the town of Rising Sun at this location in 1837.

Rocmester. Laid out in 1837 near the center of the east section 29,
Van Buren Township, on the left bank of the Des Moines River, about
two miles northeast of Keosauqua. The government surveyors report
finding this town in 1837. It contended with Keosauqua for the
county seat in 1837,
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Sarusria, A village laid out in 1838 about two miles south of
Farmington and on the same side of the river. It existed only a few
years,

Sueriax, A post office (1865-77) in or near section 29, Cedar
Township. :

Sourst Bexrtoxsrowr, The ecarly name of what became Vernon in
1852, See North Bentonsport, also sce Vernon.

Sourin Krosauvqua. A hamlet laid out in 1840 on the north side of
the Des Moines River and now absorbed in the southern part of
Keosauqua.

StumprowN. A local name given in pioneer times to the village of
Independence, which see above.

Summrr. The name first given the present village of Mount Zion
when it was laid out in 1860. N

Uniox. A post office (1847-56) in or near section 34, Union Town-
ship.

Uxitox Corxers. The early name of the post office (1849-53) at
what later became the village of Mount Sterling.

Urrox. An important inland town near the center of the south
scetion 17, Des Moines Township. It was on the state line, part of
the town being in Missouri. Post office, 1852-1903.

Vax Burex. A town laid out in 1839, now constituting the southern
part of the present town of Keosauqua. Van Buren and Des Moines
City, which see above, joined together, making Keosauqua. Van Buren
was the name of the post office from 1841 to 1845 when it became
Keosauqua.

Verxon. A village laid out in 1837 as South Bentonsport, but be-
came Vernon in 1852, It was on the south side of the Des Moines
River from Bentonsport. A few old buildings still remain. Vernon
was the name of their post office from 1852 to 1903.

Warerrown, Laid out as a town in 1837 across the Des Moines
River from Farmington. Little improving, if any, was done.

Witnirs. A hamlet, former railroad station and post office from
1872 to 1894, excepting the interruption of a few discontinuances,
located in section 1, Vernon Township, about midway betwecen Farm-
ington and Mount Sterling.

Wnsonvinne. A post office (1872-1901) in the southern part of
section 9, Cedar Township.

‘Woons Miris. The early name of the present town of Mount Sterling.

Zawesviie,  [Note: Lanesville as listed earlier in this article by Dr.
Fitzpatrick, and by any whom he may have followed, should have been
Zanesville. The name came from Zanesville, Ohio, at which place was
born and brought up J. H. McVeigh, on whose land the post office was
kept, and who was the second postmaster of Zanesville post office.
T'his was for some time after its establishment the post office of the
subscriber—E.R.H.]
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- WAPELLO COUNTY

AvrpINE. A post office (1860-72) in section 18, Washington Township.

Anxtanor. A hamlet in section 14, Adams Township.

Axsrerpand.  This town is reported by Willilam Vandever, deputy
U. 8. surveyor, in his notes of the survey of 1843, as being in the center
of section 14, Center Township, about two miles northwest of the
business section of Ottumwa.

Asuraxp. A town of importance on the stage line, having several
stores, an academy, and a few hundred population. It was in the south-
ern part of section 9, Washington Township, about three miles north of
the present town of Eldon. Post office, 1844-80.

Asrrann Crossina.  The name first given the place that later became
Williamsburg, and finally the present town of Eldon.

AversviLLe. A town reported by William Vandever in his survey
notes of 1843 as being in the southeast quarter of section 26, Center
Township, making it appear to have been the town later called Port
Richmond.

Bear Creex. A station on the C.,, M. & St. P. Railway about four
miles west of Ottumwa. It had a post office by the same name from
1909 to 1914.

BravEnssure. A village laid out in 1853 in the southeastern part
of section 9 and the northeastern part of section 16, Pleasant Township.
Post office, 1855-1906.

Brysox. A post office in 1872 at a location on or near that of the
present railway station of Cliffland.

BurroN. A station on the Wabash Railway in the western part of
Keokuk Township, about eight miles south of Ottumwa, as shown on
maps of 1878 and 1880.

CurisriaNssura. A hamlet in the northern part of section 27, Polk
Township. Post office, 1859-72.

Corumuisa. A post office from 1846 to 1849, the name being changed
to Fountain Spring, which see below, in 1849.

ComreriNg. The name of the post office (1851-1903) at the town of
Marysville, which see below.

Comsrock. The early name of the present Kirkville Station. Com-
stock was also the name of the post office from 1861 to 1877.

CoopersviLLe. A post office (1867-75) in the central part of section
86, Polk Township.

CyxtHIANN, A post office from 1850 to 1852 near the central part
of Polk Township.

Damvroneca. This town in the northwest corner of section 9, Dah-
lonega Township, five miles northeast of Ottumwa is reported in the
notes of the government surveyors in 1843. It was an important town
in an early day, had at one time 800 inhabitants, and aspired to be the
county seat. Post office, 1844-1907.

Deriaxce. A town reported by William Vandever in his survey
notes of 1843 as being at the commen corners of section 20, 21, 28 and




ABANDONED TOWNS OF IOWA 133

29, Richland Township, which would make the location about two
miles northeast of the present Kirkville Station.

Des Morwes Crry. Listed as being a post oflice in Wapello County
from 1851 to 1853, but maps of that period show the place to have been
in Mahaska County about one mile west of the northwest corner of
Wapello County. See Mahaska County list of abandoned towns.

Famrray. A town reported by W. Barrows in his survey notes of
1843 as being in the southeast and southwest quarters of section 5 and
the northeast and northwest quarters of section 8, Keokuk Township.

Fouxtary Srmive. A post office (1849-53) formerly called Columbia,
the location being at or near where now stands Kirkville Station.

Goorrey. A post office from 1872 to 1874 in the southern part of
Richland Township, at or near the later place called Keb, which see
below.

Greex. A post office (1851-59) slightly north of the center of Green
Township.

Harpy Hoirow. A post office (1870-77) at or near the location where
later appeared Shock’s Station, which see below.

Kep. A place in section 34, Richland Township having a post office
from 1891 to 1905. .

Louisvire.  The name given Ottumwa when it was laid out in 1844,
but which it kept but a brief time.

Maniox. A town reported by William Vandever in his survey notes
of 1843 as being in the southeast quarter of section 15, and the west
half of section 14, Columbia Township, on the north bank of the Des
Moines River.

MarysvirLe. A village in the southern part of section 15, Competine
Township. Its post oftice was Competine, which see above.

Mecuanicssura. A town reported by W. Vandever in his survey
notes of 1843 as being in the south half of section 24 and the north
half of section 25, Columbia Township, on the north bank of the Des
Moines River.

MmroriiaN. A town reported by W. Vandever in his survey notes
of. 1843 as being in the west part of section 15, Columbia Township,
on the north side of the Des Moines River.

Muyxrervinie. A hamlet and post office (1870-1905) in the western
part of section 17, Polk Township.

Nanisee.  Listed as a post office in Wapello County in 1854 and 1855,
but the location not found.

OrrostrioN. A town reported by W. Vendever in his survey notes
of 1843 as being in the southern part of section 8 and the northern
part of section 17, Columbia Township, on the north side of the Des
Moines River.

OmaranviiLe. A once busy town in the northwestern part of section
33, Green Township. Post office, 1869-1903.

Pavrestive. A place near the center of Columbia Township on the
north side of the Des Moines River some four miles southeast of
Eddyville, as appears on maps of 1857,
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Pumiuies. The former name of Rutledge, a station on the Milwaukee
Railway some three miles north of Ottumwa.

Prickwick. The name by which South Ottumwa was known during
the first several years of its existence.

Preasant LaNe. A post office in 1854 and 1855 at or near where
later was located the village of Bladensburg, which see above.

Pornt Isaner. A village in the northwestern part of section 27,
Green Township. Post office, 1851-68,

Porr Ricuaoxn, A village in the northwestern part of section 27,
Green Township, about one mile southwest of Pickwick, which see
above, and on the south bank of the Des Moines River. Post office,
1858-75. Sometimes appears on the maps as Richmond.

Ricuyoxn. See Port Richmond above.

Sac axp Fox Acexcy. The name of the post office from 1844 to 1849
at the place that later became the present town of Agency.

SamorviLie. A town reported by W. Vandever in his survey notes
" of 1843 as being in the south half of section 19 and the northeast quarter
of section 80, Richland Township, the location being about one mile
north of the present Kirkville Station.

Smock’s StarioN. A station on the C., B. & Q. Railroad in the
southwestern part of section 5, Cass Township on the south bank of the
Des Moines River, two miles southeast of Chillicothe.

StckLnes. A station on the Wabash Railway about three miles south
of Ottumwa, as appears on maps of 1887,

Tuxis. A post office about two miles north of Agency from 1897 to
1900.

Viuace. A post office southeast of Ottumwa on the south side of the
Des Moines River from 1847 to 1850.

WiLLarp., A station on the C, M. & St. P. Railway in the south-
western part of Polk Township. Post oftice, 1890-1906.

WiLLimssure. The name of the village that later (1870) became the
present town of Eldon. The name of the post office was Williamsburg
from 1868 to 1871.

Yampa. A place shown on maps of 1900 in the southern part of
Pleasant Township. Post office, 1899-1900.

WARREN COUNTY

Baxwer. A post office (1874-75) near the center of section 7,
Virginia Township.

BerLLemoxt. The name of the post office from 1870 to 1871 at what
later was called Schonberg, which see below.

Beryoxt CexTer. See Schonberg below.

Coor. A hamlet and a post office (1879-1904) on the line between
sections 11 and 12 at the cross roads one-fourth mile north of the south
line of the sections, Squaw Township. A church and three or four
dwellings remain, :

DorrviLLe. A hamlet in the northwest quarter of section 32, Vir-
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ginia Township. It had a post office by the same name from 1855 to
1863.

Ertexpane. A place marked on maps of 1869 as a post office about
one mile southeast of the present town of Carlisle.

Ferrx. A post office from 1876 to 1883 in the northeastern part of
Belmont Township.

Forr Prain, The name of the post office from 1854 to 1870 at the
town of Green Bush, which sce below.

Forr PrLaiy. A place shown on maps of 1868, 1869 and 1878 in
section 8, White Breast Township.

Friexns’ Grove. Listed in the U. S. Postal records as a post office
in Warren County from 1864 to 18G5, but the location not found.

Greex Busu. A village in the southeast corner of section 31, Green-
field Township, and in the northeast corner of the west section 6 of
‘Washington 'Lownship, or about one mile northwest of the present
town of Spring Hill. 'The post office of Green Bush ran from 1850 to
1854 when the name was changed to Fort Plain, which see above.

Hackxey's Grovi. A post office (1852-53) at or near the later post
office of Handsome View, which sece below.

Hammovnssurer. A hamlet on the line between sections 11 and 14,
Otter Township, a little west of the midway part of the line, and
about two and one-half miles northwest of the present town of Milo.
Post office, 1851-79.

Haxpsome View. A post office (1853-59) slightly east of the center
of Squaw Lownship. See Hackney's Grove above.

Inisy Grove. Another name for Dorrville, which see above,

Larrmer. A post office (1861-64) in the western part of Jackson
Township.

Lawrexcesure, A village located about midway of the north line
of section 7, Virginia T'ownship. Post office, 1857-79.

Lorerro. Listed in the U. S. Postal Guide as a post office in Warren
County in 1889, but the location not found. .

Lyx~x. A post office (1855-72) in the southwest corner of section
3, Jefferson Township.

Mevrorn. A post office (1890-1908) in the southwestern part of
‘White Oak Township.

Mox~rrerier. A post office (1853-G0) in the northwestern part of
Jefferson Township.

Moror. A hamlet at the corners of sections 1, 2, 11 and 12, Belmont
Township. Post office, 1890-1902. A church, schoolhouse and a few
scattered dwellings remain.

Osweco. Listed in the U. S. postal records as a post office in Warren
County from 1864 to 1869 (with short interims), but the location not
found.

Praxeviiie, Listed in the U. S. postal records as a post office in
Warren County from 1855 to 1859, but the location not found.

Pyra, Listed in the U. S. postal records as a post .office in Warren
County from 1856 to 1859, but the location not found,
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RosemounT. A village at the corners of sections 34 and 35, Belmont
Township, and 2 and 3, White Breast Township. Post office, 1864-80.

Saxpyvirie. Laid out in 1851 in the northeastern part of section
21 and the northwestern of 22, Union Township, five miles east of the
present town of Ackworth. A town of importance at one time. Post
office, 1855-1903. A few scattered buildings remain.

Scmonsera. A post office (1871-79) at the northwest corner of
section 21, Belmont Township about two miles east of the present town
of Milo. It was sometimes called Belmont Center, but was one mile
west of the center of that township.

SuaroN. A post office (1861-90) on the north line of section 2,
Squaw Township.

Surron. Listed in the U. S. postal records as a post office in Warren
County from 1897 to 1900, but the location not found.

TauNToN. A post office (1876-83) at or near the later post office
of Felix, which see above,

Turee Rivers. A post office from 1848 to 1854 at or near the
location of the present town of Hartford.

Twerve Miue Grove. Listed in the U. S. postal records as a post
office in Warren County in 1863, but the location not found.

Uxioxn Hmx. A place in the southern part of section 9, Union
Township, as shown on maps of 1869.

‘Wesrrorn. A place shown on maps from 1856 to 1868 on Middle
River at or near the location of the present village of Somerset.

Warre Oax Poinr. A post office (1852-54) in section 19, White
Oak Township.

WimizgroN. A post office in 1855 in section 24, Palmyra Township,
some two or three miles northwest of the old village of Palmyra.

WisconstN. A post office (1865-66) in the northern part of section
19, Belmont Township, at or near the location of the present town of
Milo.

WASHINGTON COUNTY

Ampoy. A post office (1851-62) in the southwestern part of Oregon
Township.

Asroria. Laid out as a town in 1837 in section 28, Oregon Township,
in anticipation of being the county seat. A post office named Potts-
ville (which see below) and a store were all it ever attained to.

BerneL. A post office (1897-1904) on the east side of section 24,
Highland Township.

CeparviLLE. A post office from 1860 to 1864, and later from 1866 to
1868 at or near where later was the town of Lexington, which see below.

Cexter Hrir. Listed as a post office in Washington County in 1851
and 1852, but the location not found.

Dairvy. A post office (1863-75) in the western part of section 9,
Highland Township.

Davis Creex. A post office (1850-67) near the southwest corner of
Iowa Township.
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Dayron. A town laid out in 1854 in the eastern part of section
13, and the western part of the east section 18, Lime Creek Township,
about one mile north of the present town of Wellman. A few scatter-
ing houses remain.

Davroxviie. The name of the post office from 1875 to 1906, except
some intermission, at the town of Dayton, which see above.

Dusrix., The name of the post office kept at a country store at
Dutch Creek, which see below, from 1879 to 1905.

Durca Creek. A post office in the northeastern part of section 22,
Dutch Creek Township, from 1845 to 1879, when the name was changed
to Dublin, which see above.

Evnexa. Laid out as a town in 1857 in the northwest quarter of
section 18, Marion Township, five miles south and one mile west of
Washington. It never grew to be more than a hamlet. A few scatter-
ing houses remain.

Grace Hirr. A village in the northwestern part of section 3I,
Franklin Township. Post office, 1889-1904.

Harriszura., A town laid out in 1855 in section 14, Highland Town-
ship. It proved short-lived.

Juax. A post office (1844-50) in the northwestern part of Marion
Township, about five miles south of Washington.

Laxe. A post office (1860-65) in the northeastern part of Marion
Township.

Lexincron. A town laid out in 1865 in the southern part of section
8, Cedar Township. Post office, 1868-1905. It still has a church and a
few scattering houses.

MarceLLus. A post office (1850-59) in the western part of Marion
Township.

Mimnresure. A post office (1870-82) in the eastern part of section
9, English River Township.

Miris. Another name, as appears on maps of 1854, of Wassonville,
which see below. :

New Havex. A post office (1857-66) in the eastern part of Dutch
Creek Township, about one mile east of Dutch Creek, which see above.

Paris. A town laid out in 1846 in the southern part of section 30,
Dutch Creek Township. Its post office was Valley. One store, a
church and a few scattered dwellings remain.

Priorsure. A hamlet in the northeastern part of the east section 33,
Lime Creek Township, two miles south and three miles east of the
present town of Wellman, Post office, 1891-1903.

PorrsvitLe. The name of the post office from 1839 to 1860 at
Astoria, which see above.

Sevexry Six CENTER, A post office from 1870 to 1873 near the center
of Seventy Six Township.

Trrus. A station on the C.,, M. & St. P. Ry. in the northwestern part
of section 28, Franklin Township, about five miles southwest of
‘Washington. It had a post office from 1910 to 1913.
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Variey. The name of the post office from 1851 to 1905 at the town
of Paris, which see above.

Vixcexrt. A station on the C, R. I. & P. Ry. in the southern part
of Franklin Township, as shown on maps of 1887.

WassoxviLLe. A village laid out in 1848 in the eastern part of section
12 and the western part of the east section 7, Lime Creek Township,
about midway as to north and south of the two sections and on the
north side of English River. It had a good mill and was an important
town on the stage routes and underground railroad. Post office, 1849-75,

Wurre Asu. A post office (1873-85) in section 1 of Highland Town-
ship.

YarroN. A town laid out in 1856 in the northeast corner of section
19, Iowa Township, about one mile south of the present town of
Riverside. At one time it had a population of about 300. Post office,
1843-75.

WAYNE COUNTY

Aerxa. A former station on the C., B. & Q. R. R. about three
miles east of Corydon, as shown on maps of 1909.

BenrTonviLLe. A village and station on the C, B. & Q. R. R. about
five miles northwest of Corydon. Post office, 1887-95. Formerly called
Peoria, whichh see below.

Beraremeyd. A town platted in 1858 in the southeast corner of
section 24, Union Township. Prosperous in its day. Post office, 1852-
1902.

Bie Serixg. A post office (1875-1901) in section 17, Jefferson Town-
ship.

Bripgerorr. A former station on the C., B. & Q. R. R. about four
miles west of Promise City.

Campria, A former village and station on the C., B. & Q. R. R.
about seven miles northwest of Corydon.

Crixton CexTer. A hamlet in the southeastern part of section 9 and
the southwestern part of section 10, Clinton Township. Post office,
1893-1902.

CoxrFmexce. A village in the southeast corner of section 11 and
the northeast corner of section 14, Wright Township. Post office, 1859-
1903. .

Gexoa. A village laid out in 1855 in the southwestern part of sec.
tion 13, Monroe Township. Post office, 1856-1904.

GraixviLre. The former name of the present village of Harvard,
Grainville was also the name of the post office from 1876 to 1882,

Granp River. A post office (1851-72) in the southwestern part of
Grand River Township, at or near the location of the present town
of Lineville,

Harpy Horrow. A hamlet about two miles east of Harvard in the
years around 1900, principally occupied by coal miners.

Harvarn, A former village and station on the C, R. I. & P. Ry,
about five miles east of Allerton.
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Hobnge. A station on the C, R. I & P. Ry. between Allerton and
Clio. Post office, 1884-98.

Kxtrrix.  First, a country post office, and after the building of the
railway in 1871, a station on the C, R. I. & P. in section 18, Walnut
Township. Post office, 1858-1903.

Lewissurc. A village in the center of section 20, Clay Township.
Post office, 1857-1902.

Lucerye. A post office (1860-G7) in the eastern part of Richman
Township.

New York. A village platted in 1855 in the northern part of section
22, Union Township. Post office, 1856-1903.

Orraxpo. A post office (1860-62) somewhat southwest of the center
of Benton Township, or about five miles west of Corydon.

Ovin. A post office (1891-1902) in section 19, Union Township.

Peoria. Platted as a town in 1853 on the south line of section 10,
and the north line of section 15, Benton Township, midway as to east
and west of that line and about five miles northwest of Corydon. In
the late 1880’s the name was changed to Bentonville, which see above.

SasviLe. A post office (1886-87) at or near the later village o
Bentonville, which see above. ’

Saxox. A post office (1888-1901) in section 25, Clay Township.

Serya. A post office (1866-78) in section 4, Richman Township.

Sourit Fork. A post office (1849-62) near the northeast corner of
Walnut Township, on the South Fork of Chariton River.

Uxa. A place in the southwestern part of Union Township, about
six miles north of Corydon, as appears on maps from 1863 to 1869.
Post office, 1863-64.

Warsaw. A hamlet in the northwest corner of section 8, Howard
Township. Post office, 1855 to 1861 and from 1866 to 1903.

WavxNe Cross Roans, Listed as a post office in Wayne County from
1858 to 1860, but the location not found.

WEBSTER COUNTY

Avspure. A place near where now stands the town of Lehigh, as
shown on maps of 1862.

BrLievinie. A post office in the southeastern part of Webster County
in 1859 to 1861 at the forks of the Boone and Des Moines rivers.

Borber Praixs., Platted in 1857 in the southwest quarter of the
southeast quarter, and the southwest quarter of section 30, ‘Washington
Township. It was a town of importance. Many soldiers of the Union
Army were sworn in there. It becamme extinct after the Civil War.

Bucnaxax. Platted as a town in 1856 slightly west of where now
stands the village of Burnside. It aspired to be the county seat, but
when that went to Fort Dodge in 1859, it declined. Soon the name
was changed to Hesperian, which see below, and later to Burnside.

Canrson. The former name of the present Illinois Central Railroad
station of Gypsum. Carbon was a post office from 1870 to 1872,
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Casany. A post office (1883-90) in the southeastern part of Dayton
Township. It is shown on maps as Casady’s Corner.

Crazg’s Horrow. See Kalo Junction below.

Crooxs. The former name of the interurban station of Palm Grove
in the eastern part of Clay Township. Crooks was a post office from
1909 to 1914.

Fra~nkrorr. A place in the northern part of Yell Township, on the
south side of the Des Moines River, as shown on maps of 1857 and
1862,

Greensmes. A post office from 1869 to 1873 in the northern part of
Elkhorn Township, about five miles south and one mile west of Fort
Dodge.

Hasxaria. A proposed town on the Illinois Central near the present
town of Judd.

Hesperran, The name of the post office at what is now Burnside
from 1858 to 1882. Also see Buchanan above.

Jackson CeNTER. A post office (1879-89) a short way south of the
center of Jackson Township.

Kavo JuxcrioN. A station and hamlet on the main line and spur
of the M. & St. L. Railroad which extended to the town of Kalo and the
coal mines about a mile distant. The neighboring community was also
called Craig’s Hollow.

KesHo. The former name of the present town of Calender. Kesho
was the name of the post office from 1873 to 1877,

Lackawaxa., A coal mining town laid out in 1876 on the east bank
of the Des Moines River opposite where now stands the town of
Lehigh.

LaruayM. A place slightly northeast from the center of Deér Creek
Township and on the west side of the Des Moines River, as shown on
maps of 1878. Post office, 1875 to 1879.

Lixnsurc. A former village, principally occupied by coal miners,
on the C. & N. W. Ry. about three miles east of the present town of
Dayton.

Luxps. A railroad station and village a short distance northeast
of the center of Washington Township.

McGume. A post office in the late 1890’s in the southeastern part of
Webster County, sometimes called McGuire's Bend.

McLavenrin’s Creer. A place in the southwestern part of Douglas
Townshhip near where Tara now is, as shown on maps of 1868 and
1869.

Nenraska., Listed as a post office from September 29, 1851, to
November 29 of the same year in Yell County, which was the same as
the present Webster County, without its north tier of townships, but
its location not found.

Newark. A post office (1875-87) in section 23, Newark Township.

Orumo. The original post office of Otho was located in section 28,
township 88, range 29, in the C. B. Andrews home. The town itself was
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located on each side of the public highway north of District No. 1
schoolhouse.

Porrers. A railroad station and village slightly north of the center
of Washington Township.

Staprowx. A local name given the present town of Lehigh in its
carly existence.

Tyson’s MiLrs. The pioneer name of the present town of Lehigh. It
was begun in 1855 as Tyson’s Mills. The name was changed to Vesper,
and later to Lehigh. Tyson’s Mills was the name of the post office
from 1870 to 1876.

Veseer.  See Tyson’s Mills above.

Warsrioee Grove. A place in the northwestern part of Badger
Township near the east bank of the Des Moines River, as shown on
maps of 1878. Post office, 1868 and 1869,

West Davrox. The name of the post office (1858-77) at the present
town of Dayton.

WINNEBAGO COUNTY

Amuxp. A bhamlet and post office (1888-1907) in the northwest
corner of section 22, Eden Township.

Bexsox Grove. A village and post office (1866-84) about one mile
to the east of the present railroad station of Leland.

Bexson Grove SrarioN. Sce Lelandsburgh below.

DeeriNg. A post office from 1880 to 1886 and again from 1890 to
1891 in section 7, Newton Township.

Deraxo, A post office (1890-1902) in section 36, Center Township.

Gryrre. A post office from 1897 to 1900 in the southwest corner of
section 36, Logan Township.

Hovraxpare. A post °office from 1897 to 1902 in section 24, Grant
Township.

Leraxnvssurcr, The name of the present village of Leland for a
time. The post office was also Lelandsburgh from 1881 to 1885. On
the founding of the place in 1880 it was called Benson Grove Station,
but the name was soon changed to Lelandsburgh, and finally to Leland.

Live Creex Crry. See Mount Valley below.

Mount Varrey. A post office (1877-97) in the southeastern part of
section 11 and the northeastern part of section 14, Mount Valley Town-
ship. It was called Lime Creek City on maps of 1857.

Nasuemt. The name of the post office at the present hamlet of
Vinje from 1889 to 1891.

Noraax. A former station and town on the M. & St. L. R. R. a
short distance south of the present station of Emmons.

Rar~a. A post office (1889-1900) in the northeast corner of section
9, Mount Valley Township.

STeE¥. A post office from 1892 to 1894 in Grant Township, west of
and not far from the later post office of Hollandale, which see above.

TweereN. A post office from 1900 to 1993 in the southwestern part
of section 11, Newton Township.
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WINNESHIEK COUNTY

Agexcy. A place shown on the early maps of the 1850°'s in the
same location as Old Mission (which see below), as shown on later
maps.

Aisa. See New Alba below.

AquiLta Grove. See Springwater below.

Burr Oax Srrings. A post office (1858-64) in the northeastern part
of Sumner Township, or the northwestern part of Calmar Township.

Caxoe. A post office (1857-1905, including two intermissions) in
section 26, Canoe Township, on Canoe Creck. .

Currron. A post office in section 35, Fremont Township, near the
location where later stood the village of Plymouth Rock, which sece
below.

Eme. A post office (1876-81) in section 23, Pleasant Township.

FraxkLiy Pramm. A post office from 1857 to 1864 in the northern
part of section 18, Canoe Township.

Hype. A post office (1886-89) in section 19, Frankvfile Township.

Istep. Listed as a post office in Winneshiek County from 1890 to
1895, but its location not found.

Jamesrowx., See Trout River below.

Lrewisroxn. A town in the northeastern part of section 28, Wash-
ington Township, or about one mile north of Old Mission (which see
below). It contended for the county seat in 1851, but failing in that,
its existence was brief.

Locust Laxe. The same as the present village of Locust. Locust
Lane was the name of the post office from 1857 to 1883.

MarysvinLe. The pioneer name of the present town of Calmar,

MoxEtEk. An important village on both sides of the line between
sections 1 and 2, Bloomfield Township, and about midway of that line
as to north and south. Post office, 1851-64. It was an aspirant for
the county seat in 1851.

Morcax. A post office (1857-66) in section 8, Orleans Township.’

NEw Arepa. A post office (1861-81) in the northern part of section
20, Jackson Township. It ran as Alba a few months in 1861 previous
to the change of the name to New Atlba.

OLp MisstoN. A post office (1850-82) in the northwestern part of
section 34, Washington Township, about five miles southeast of Fort
"Atkinson and on the west bank of the Turkey River. The noted
Winnebago Indian school and mission was located in the southeast
quarter of the northeast quarter of section 83, just a short way south-
west of the Old Mission post office.

Orreans. Listed as a post office in Winneshiek County from 1854 {o
1857, but its location not found.

Prymourn Rock. A village platted in 1855 in the southern part of
section 85, Fremont Township, on the south side of the Upper Iowa
River., Post office, 1856-1907.
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Sanrpson. Listed as a post office in Winneshick County in 1893 and
1894, but its location not found.

Serixewarer. A hamlet in section 24, Canoe Township, on the north
side of Canoe Creek. Its post office was Aquilla Grove from 1856 to
1864, and was Springwater from 1864 to 1896,

Tuorex. A post office (1876-1903) in section 14, Glenwood Town-
ship.

Trour Rivir. A village in the central part of Frankville Town-
ship. Tts post office was Jamestown from 1851 to 1852, but was called
Trout River from 1852 to 1855.

Twix Serings. The name of the post office at the present village of
Kendallville from 1856 to 1874.

Twixn Semings. The present village of Festina in Washington Town-
ship was platted as I'win Springs in 1856, but the name. was later
changed to the name of its post office, Festina.

WiiurmaxTic. A post office from 1856 to 1858 and from 1861 to
1863 in section 23, Fremont Township.

Wixvesurek., A post office (1851-65) in the southeastern part of
Bloomfield Township.

Woonsioe. A post office (1876-86) in section 8, Frankville Township.

WoonviLLe. A post office (1866-87) in the western part of section
26, Greenwood Township.

WOODBURY COUNTY

Axxerra. The name first given the present town of Oto.

Browxs SurrrLeMENT. A place in the northeastern part of Lake Port
Township, as shown by maps of the 1850’ and early 1860's.

Burr Oax Grove. A place in section 12, Union Township near the
Little Sioux River, as shown on maps of 1868 to 188l.

Discorn. A post office (1870-84) in the northern part of section 21,
Kedron Township.

Dobes. A post office (1877-86) in the northwestern part of section
32, Banner Township.

Frovr’s Brurr. A post oftice for a short time in 1855 in the southern
part of what is now Sioux City, near the bank of the Missouri River.

Frizxvunes Taverw., A place (stage station) in section 30, Sloan
Township, ncar where now stands the town of Sloan, as shown on maps
of 1868.

Gare. A post office (1871-88) in the northeastern part of section 7,
Miller Township. .

Geryan Crrv. A hamlet and post office (1886-1903) in the eastern
part of Willow Township. A church and a few houses still remain.

Graxoe. A post office (1877-78) in section 5, Grange Township.

Grove. A place near the northwest corner of Willow Township, as
shown on maps of 1878.

Hasmin. A post office (1867-69) in Sloan Township.

Hoskixs, A post office from 1875 to 1886 and from 1891 to 1902 in
section 33, Concord Township.
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Lakeprort. A post office from 1857 to 1858 and from 1889 to 1902
in section 21, Lake Pork Township.

LixnpaLe. A post office (1863-64) a little southwest of the center
of Liberty Township.

ListonviLLe. A hamlet and post office (1872-77) a short distance
north of the present town of Danbury.

Lozier. Listed as a post office from 1880 to 1882 in Woodbury
County, but its location not found.

Lucxy VaLLey. A settlement in sections 2 and 3, Grant Township,
with a post office (1882-1903) by the same name.

Mmbway. A post office (1893-1907) in section 10, Morgan Township.

Morris. A post office (1857-64) in the eastern central part of Liston

. Township.

New Burraro. A movable country post office (1856-78) which was
in the neighborhood where later was built the present town of Salix.

Obp. A post office (1879-82) in section 18, West Fork Township.

Peroro. A hamlet and a post office (1877-1904) in section 29, Grant
Township.

Rock Braxcu. A post office from 1872 to 1904, located part of the
time in section 1, Wolf Creek Township and later in section 6, Kedron
Township.

Surrurtow~. The name given the present town of Smithland, as
appears on maps in the 1850’s.

S~xyper Grove. A post office (1871-72) near the northwest corner
of Willow Township.

TuompsoNrowx, Staked off as a town in 1847 at Floyd’s Bluff
(which see above). Thompsontown became the county seat, although
it had but one log hut, and was until Sergeants Bluff won the prize in
1854.

Wourrpare. A country post office (1869-97) which occupied several
different locations in farm houses in 'Wolf Creek Township.

Woonsury. The name of the post office at the town of Sergeants
Bluff from 1862 to 1870.

WORTH COUNTY

‘BristoL. A town platted in 1857 in the southern part of section 5
and the northern part of section 8, Bristol Township. It was the first
county seat, 1858 to 1863. Post office, 1857 to 1902,

Deer Creex. A village in section 5, Deer Creek Township. There is
still a store and creamery located there. Post office, 1890-1907.

Erx Creex. Listed as a post office in Worth County from 1890 to
1900, but the location not found.

Ferx. A post office from February 18, 1889 to June 28, 1889, at or
near the later post office of Polo Station, which see below.

FoxrtanerLe. A town in section 86, Fertile Township, as shown on
maps of 1857. This was a town on paper only.

Grape, A former railroad station and post office, previously called
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Polo Station, which see below. Glade was the name of the post office
from 1900 to 1904.

GrLeNmary. Laid out as a town in 1857 in the northeast quarter of
section 24, Brookfield Township. Never had but one house.

Harrraxp. A post office which occupied, during its existence, from
1860 to 1875, two or three different locations in the northwestern part
of Hartland Township. There is still a Hartland store and creamery
in that township.

Hirondelle. A post office (1880-1900) in the eastern part of section
30, Danville Township, about one mile east of the present town of
Hanlontown.

Lawsrun. A hamlet and post office (1899-1902) in section 21, Silver
Lake Township.

Lark. A post office from 1884 to 1887 and again from 1889 to 1903
in the northern part of section 8, Fertile Township.

Nornnaxp. A post office (1879-1901) first in section 8 and later in
section 2, Fertile Township.

Oaxvare. A post office in 1859 near the Minnesota state line, but the
exact location not found.

Poro Srarrox. A former C. & Gt. W. R. R. station in Lincoln
Township about four miles northeast of the present town of Manly.
Its post office was Polo Station from 1889 to 1900 when it was changed
to Glade, which see above.

Surrr Rock. A station on the Towa Central Railroad at or near
the present town of Manly, as appears on maps of 1878,

Suver Laxe. A post office (1867-1906) first in Silver Lake Town-
ship, but later in the northwestern part of Hartland Township.

Somuer. A post office (1889-1902) in section 1, Bristol Township.

Teworp. A hamlet and post office (1881-1906) in the southwest
corner of section 17 and the southeast corner of section 18, Brookficld
Township. A store and a creamery are still there.

Wares. A post office (1869-73) in the central part of Union Town-
ship.

WiestrieLp. A post office (1870-71) on the west line of Union Town-
ship about midway as to north and south.

WRIGHT COUNTY

Avvricu, Listed as a post office from 1882 to 1891 in Wright
County, but the location not found.

Bacir Grove. A post office (1858-81) in the southern part of Troy
Township near the Boone River.

Bruck. A post office from 1883 to 1893 and from 1897 to 1901 in
section 15, Norway Township.

CrowxN Point. The original name of that portion of the present
town of Belmond that is west of the Towa River, previous to its
platting in 1856.

Drew. A post office (1892-1901) in section 16, Norway Township.
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Dry Laxe. A post office (1871-82) in the northern part of section
16, Vernon Township.

EacLe Grove. The post office of Eagle Grove was near the northeast
corner of section 20, Eagle Grove Township, two miles north and
about two miles west of the present town of Eagle Grove, from 1861
until the founding of the town in 1881.

Eacre Grove JuxcrroN. The name of the present town of Eagle
Grove when it was platted in 1881.

EacLeviLie. Selected as the county seat and platted as a town in
1855 in the southeast quarter of section 12, Eagle Grove Township.
However, the town was never built and the county seat was given in
1857 to Liberty, which see below.

Exeire. A post office (1868-83) in section 26, Lincoln Township.

Fryesvre. A post office (1856-86) in the northeastern part of
section 4, Blaine Township, near where now stands the town of Rowan.

GarrviLLe. The name for a time of the present town of Galt. See
Norwich below. The post office was Galtville from 1882 to 1888.

Graxrt. The name first given to the present city of Clarion when
it was made the county seat in 1855 and until 1869, when it became
Clarion.

Liserty. The former name of the present town of Goldfield. Liberty
was platted in 1855. It was the county seat from 1858 to 1865.

Luxt. A post office (1858-88) at the center of Boone Township.

Moxrcomery. A post office from May 5, 1864, to December 12 of
the same year, on the Boone River a short distance north of the present
town of Goldfield. :

MoruaiN. A post office (1897-1902) in section 4, Wall Lake Town-
ship.

Moscow. A place in the northwestern part of Dayton Township as
shown on maps from 1857 to 1878.

Norwicn. The first name given the present town of Galt. Norwich
was platted in 1881. The name was soon changed to Galtville, and
later to Galt.

Otisviiie. The name of the post office at the town of Dows from
1858 to 1880.

Orseco. Platted as a town in 1855 in sections 2 and 3, Eagle Grove
Township.

Parsvitre. A former station on the Great Western Railroad and a
post office (1898-1902) in section 10, Pleasant Township. A farmers’
elevator still operates there.

RosepaLe. A post office from 1857 to 1860 and again from 1877 to
1886 in the northwestern part of Troy Townshihp. )

Turarl. A former platted town and station on the C. & N. W. Ry.
about one mile north of the present town of Goldfield. Post office
1882-1907.

‘WatermaN. A post office (1871-1900) in the northwestern part of
section 29, Wall Lake Township.
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WnLiams Pornr. A place a short distance north of the center of
Troy Township, as shown on maps of 1862 to 1869.

Woorstock. The post office of Woolstock from 1868 to 1881 was
some two miles east of the present town of that name.

ADDENDA AND ERRATA

ALLAMAKEE COUNTY

Mezexas. This which appeared in Vol. XVII, p. 439, should be

Nezeka.
BENTON COUNTY

Gomerar. This as it appears on page 444, Vol. XVII, should be
Gomersal.

Lixexs. A post office in section 16, Polk Township, as shown on plat
book of 1885.

Seexcer Grove. This post office (see Vol. XVII, p. 445) was in the
northeast corner of section 10, Polk Township.

Terry. The former name of the present Mxlwaukee R. R. station
of Walford, Florence Township.

BREMER COUNTY
K~rrren, This which appeared in Vol. XVII, p. 449, should be
Knittel.
CALHOUN COUNTY
Craxparr, This post office (see Vol. \VII p- 453) was in section
33, Williams Township. .
Erym Grove. This post office (see Vol. XVII, p. 453) was two
miles north and two miles east of the present town of Yetter.
Kissemmee. This post office (see Vol. XVII, p. 453) was near the
north end of North Twin Lake.

. CARROLL COUNTY
Krrxer. This which appeared in Vol. XVII, p. 454, should be
Kentner.
CEDAR COUNTY
Warpex. This which appeared in Vol. XVII, p. 457, should be Wald.

CHICKASAW COUNTY
Maxsen. This which appeared in Vol. XVII, p. 459, should be
Nansen.
Peart Rock. A prosperous town in the 1870°s in section 31, Brad-
ford Township, on the west side of the Cedar River.

CLINTON COUNTY
WarerLto.  [The notes of William A. Burt of the government survey
of 1837 say: “On or about the northeast corner of section 31, township
82, range 7 east, there has been a town laid out, called Wapello, four
families in the town.”—E.R.H.] This location is in the east central
part of that portion of the present city of Clinton, formerly called
Lyons, and on the bank of the Mississippi River.
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FREMONT COUNTY
Eastrort. This which appeared in Vol. XVII, p. 526, should be
Eastport.
a JEFFERSON COUNTY
AaroxviLte. Laid out as a town in 1853 in section 33, Polk Town-
ship, but apparently never built up.
Bue~vavista. Laid out as a town in 1851 in section 13, Buchanan
Township, but apparently never built up.
Mirron. Laid out as a town in 1855 in sections 8 and 9, Des Moines
Township, but apparently never built up.

MITCHELL COUNTY
Durea.  This which appeared in Vol. XVIII, p. 46, should be Dureau.

MAHASKA COUNTY
Oxesxka. This post office (see Vol. XVII, p. 599) was in section 34,
Pleasant Grove Township.
Sroneringe. This post office (see Vol. XVII, p. 599) was in section
15, Monroe Township.

MONTGOMERY COUNTY

Arx. A post office (1895-98) in Douglas Township.

Hawrmorse. A former village and C., B. & Q. railroad station
about one-half mile south of the present village of McPherson. Haw-
thorn was the name of its post office from 1871 to 1892, when it was
changed to Hawthorne, and was discontinued in 1908 after the railroad
was located farther to the north.

Sciora. A country post office (1855-1905) in Washington Township,
occupying different locations, the last one being in section 16.

‘Wares. A post office (1886-1901) near the center of Lincoln Town-
ship.

POLK COUNTY
Harrox. Sec Polk County list, Vol. XVIII, p. 61. Hatton was the
name of the post office at the village and railroad station of Kelsey, for
which see same page.

POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY

Coux~cit Brurrs. 'This which appeared in Vol. XVIII, p. 64, should
be Council Bluff,
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